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An historic graveyard sits on the edge of Karaka Bay. It is the 
final resting place of some of the first European settlers on 
the island. 

Who are these people? How did they get to live here and 
what was life like for them? 

This story goes back to the early days of settlement in New 
Zealand when missionaries based in Paihia were 
instrumental in getting a treaty signed between Maori and 
the British to try to protect Maori from the lawlessness of 
some of the Europeans. This agreement, the Treaty of 
Waitangi was signed at Waitangi, just north of Paihia in 1840. 

The wife of one of the missionaries, Mrs Henry Williams (nee 
Marianne Coldham), sent letters ‘home’ with good reports of 
New Zealand. At about the same time, advertisements were 

placed in English newspapers encouraging ‘industrious men and women of good character’ 
to emigrate to New Zealand. 

These letters and advertisements encouraged a group of friends to make the life-changing 
decision to come by sailing ship to the opposite side of the globe. They included two sisters, 
Esther and Ann Coulam who were cousins of Mrs Williams. They had recently married two 
brothers, Joseph and Isaac Phillips. A third brother, Hornby had married Elizabeth Moor and 
his cousin Susan had married Elizabeth’s brother John Moor. All emigrated from a little village 
Theddlethorpe near Louth in the late 1850s. Both Susan and John Moor are buried at Karaka 
Bay as is their son, William who came with them as a baby from England. 

Also influenced by the advertisements and eager to avail themselves of the 40-acre grants 
were Alfred and William Edlington, Edward Paddison and George Stark (all from Lincolnshire) 
and two families of Cooper (from Staffordshire). Edward Paddison is also buried at Karaka Bay 
as is William Cooper, son of the original immigrant and William Edlington. 

Of the first group who arrived in New Zealand in July 1859 on the ‘Whirlwind’, our interest is 
with the Moors who along with the Flinns were the first European settlers at Port FitzRoy. 
John Moor had successfully applied for the position of tenant farmer to supply fresh 
provisions to the village serving the copper mine. The 700-acre farm was on a piece of land 
called Mohunga (which included Nagles Cove) on the south side of the peninsular between 
Port Abercombie and Katherine Bay. 

The Edlington brothers, Edward Paddison and George Stark were not far behind, arriving on 
the ‘Matoaka’ in September 1859. It has been suggested that these four answered 
advertisements for miners and headed immediately after their arrival in Auckland to the 
copper mine village at Miners Head on Great Barrier. Apparently George Stark had experience 
in mining and became a manager . About fifty houses (possibly nikau whare) were built on a 
narrow strip between the bush and the beach for the mine workers and their families. The 



men walked from the village around the headland to the mine along a narrow track, which 
eroded long ago – probably when a company exercised its rights to the shingle on the beach. 

The mining company went into liquidation in 1868. Many miners and 
tenant farmers left the island to look for work elsewhere. There are 
two conflicting stories about what happened next. One is that the 
miners mentioned accepted land in lieu of wages and that John Moor 
claimed ownership of his land because he was owed money for 
vegetables and meat. The other suggests that Edward Paddison, 
William and Thomas Edlington, George Stark, John Moor, William Flinn 
and Emilius Le Roy bought land . Whichever is accurate, we know that 
Edward Paddison became the owner of 1,000 acres at Karaka Bay 
adjoining John Moor’s land and stretching right around to the inner 
harbour including the land on which ‘Glenfern’ stands. George Stark 
spent several days searching before choosing his 100 acres at Whangapoua. The Edlington 
land was at the northern end of Whangapoua Beach in the area called Tapuwai. 

The story has been passed down through his family that “when Edward Paddison took up his 
completely virgin property at Karaka Bay, he arrived with only a few clothes, a rifle and 
ammunition, a kit of tools, a camp oven and a sack each of flour and sugar. He slept the first 
night under the karaka tree a few yards from the beach.” Presumably he spent the next day 
erecting some sort of shelter.  

Once the mining company closed, there was no need for boats to visit this part of the island 
making the settlers even more isolated than they had ever been. 

The Moors, Paddisons and Flinns (with their six children) were the only families remaining in 
the area around Port FitzRoy. The only other people nearby were the Maori at their 
settlement at Katherine Bay (Motairehe). However, at this time, the southern end of the 
island around Tryphena was starting to be populated through the subdivision of 40-acre lots 
under the Government’s immigration scheme. 

Farming was not a success in the early days as the land was mainly steep, rugged and covered 
in bush. It was a struggle to survive with neither equipment nor capital. When the mine was 
wound up, the Moors had five children to support and Edward Paddison, having married 
Annie Maria Cooper on 14 December 1867 had his first child, Elizabeth in September 1868. 
The families co-operated to grow crops, to build slab houses and to feed themselves. It was 
generally a time of great hardship. 

“They had to help one another and make the best use of what fish they could catch in the sea, 
or what they could find to eat in the bush. The first crops of wheat and barley were threshed 
with a flail and made into bread and porridge. A few cattle were obtained and run wherever 
there was enough pasture, and when a beast was killed, it was shared with the nearby 
families. They made their own butter and tanned the hides of cattle and sheep for leather, 
and made tweed out of their own wool. They made baskets and rough aprons out of flax, and 
they made furniture for their houses out of the local timber, which was also used for tubs, 
buckets, baths and spoutings. Nothing was wasted and for some years, as money was very 
short, very little could be bought. It was difficult to buy even saws, iron or nails. They sold 
what they could, but there was at first a very small market, as the Barrier was very isolated in 
the 1860-1880 period. There was no regular boat service, very few visiting ships, no telegraph 
and at first, no school.”  



To survive, people needed alternative ways of earning an income - gum digging, kauri logging, 
cutting of manuka and kanuka for firewood. Selling firewood was a lifesaver for the Paddisons. 

Because there were no roads, the 
firewood was taken to the beach 
where it was loaded on to scows for 
the Auckland market. These flat-
bottomed boats were designed to 
run up onto the beaches where they 
were loaded at low tide and floated 
off at high tide. They were also used 
to carry stock to the mainland. 

 
This photo of the Paddison homestead was taken in January 1896. The hills behind are bare 
and the vegetables are growing vigorously in front of the house. The building closest to the 
house on the right was the boys’ room. The dairy was attached to the far side of it. The next 
building was the girls’ room.  In the picture are from left; 
- Albert (Bert) Le Roy on the horse. He was 3 years of age when this photo was taken. He is 
 the son of Edward and Annie’s eldest child, Elizabeth. 
- Roy Paddison, who lived at Karaka Bay all his life and is buried in the graveyard. 
- Herbert (Bert) Paddison, who was killed in action in WWI. 
- Edith Paddison. She later married another islander, Nobby Alcock. 
- Annie Paddison 
- Edward Paddison 
- A friend 
- Ralph Paddison, who married Nobby Alcock’s sister, Jessie. He served in the Boer War. 

Removing the trees helped with the process of breaking in the land, but once the bush on the 
hills behind the house had been cut, the topsoil would wash away during heavy rain. 

All the early settlers had extensive vegetable gardens and orchards. The Paddisons were no 
exception despite the fact that the soil needed copious amounts of water in the summer. The 
Paddisons had a good orchard of mostly apple trees on the slope above where they had their 
jetty. There were also grape vines. An old pear tree grew beside the cow shed. It was so 
prolific that it provided enough fruit for the neighbours as well. Lemons and ‘poorman’s 
orange’ trees grew on the flatter slope up towards the creek at the back of the house. 

In the early days, the piece of land by the graveyard was called Peach Garden because when 
Edward Paddison settled at Karaka Bay there were old peach trees growing there. It has been 
suggested that the Maoris planted them from peach stones, which were carried to New 
Zealand by Captain Cook. There were also three very large fig trees by the stream near the 
graves that were thought to have been there since Cook’s visit. However, it is uncertain 
whether Captain Cook actually landed on “Big Barrier” as he named it. So these seeds may 
have come from the first ‘recorded’ vessel to land. It was a whaler, the Mermaid & it spent 
three months anchored in Port FitzRoy arriving in November 1796.  

Even though we know that this piece of land was used for burials before this, Roy Paddison 
(Edward’s son) used it, from about 1905, for putting the rams in with the ewes. He found that 
he had a higher lambing average by having only a few ewes in at a time. 



For about 40 years, William Edlington (“Weelie” as he was called) lived with the Paddisons 
and looked after the gardens. He always seemed to produce an abundance of vegetables. 
Kumara grew particularly well in front of the house and on a smaller piece of land on the other 
side of the creek. When Edward & Weelie got past doing the garden, Edward’s son, Frank did 
most of it. Roy looked after the sheep. Growing kumara was a communal affair for the 
Paddisons, Coopers and Sandersons . They stored them in sufficient quantities to last until 
the next harvest.  

The following was related by a group of visitors who went to the Barrier in 1897 for a holiday. 
They travelled on the Northern Steamship Company boat “Iona”.  

“One day we had an early breakfast and pulled to Karaka Bay, where Mr Paddison, an early 
settler resides. He has been there for thirty-three years and has got a nice place. One would 
have thought it was an English farm, as the stockyard is nicely paved with cobble stones, and 
all the outhouses in first rate order, and a good path leading to the house. There is a nice 
garden in front of the house containing over an acre of flat ground, where all kinds of 
vegetables were growing and looking well not-withstanding the dry weather. They had a nice 
flower garden at the back of the house. Mr Paddison took us through his orchards which were 
on the side of a hill.”  

Educating the Children 

In 1877, a law was passed making primary education in New Zealand “free, secular and 
compulsory”. It took some time for application of this change to reach Great Barrier Island as 
it was not until 1879 that the settlers of Port FitzRoy formed a school committee with John 
Moor as the manager. 

In September 1879, the first teacher was appointed to the island - Mr R Kinross. When he 
arrived, there was no school or school house, so he spent a week at a time living with each 
family and teaching the children of the household while he was 
there. 

We know that he spent the first week with the Moors because their 
children were ‘admitted’ on the Great Barrier School Register on 1st  
September 1879. Note that in this family, the girls were registered 
first in order of age from the eldest and then the boy. The Paddison’s 
hosted the teacher the next week with the boys registered first. 

Cyril Moor in his book “Early Settlement of Port FitzRoy, Great Barrier Island” surmised that 
the Paddisons adopted Samuel Cooper who was their nephew – the son of Mrs Paddison’s 
(Annie) brother. As he kept his own surname and his father, Samuel is listed as his Guardian 
in the School Register, maybe he just lived with the Paddison family during the weeks when 
the school teacher was in residence . The Lizzie Paddison in the register is Elizabeth who was 
born soon after the closing of the mining company. At this time, Annie was pregnant with 
Edith (born January 1880) and Ralph was born 18 months later. It must have been a busy 
household, especially for the one week in three when the family hosted the teacher. 

The Paddisons’ lessons were probably held initially in the woolshed at Karaka Bay. By 1894 
(15 years later), a room had been built at the end of the woolshed/cowshed for this purpose. 
Church services and celebrations were also held in the woolshed with neighbours coming by 
rowboat or by hiking over rough tracks. 



The wedding of the Paddison’s eldest child, Elizabeth in 1890 was 
“the first marriage solemnised on the island.” It was held in the 
Paddison’s house. Prior to this event, couples had to go to 
Auckland to be married. However, Rev. Haselden had been visiting 
the island three or four times a year and had promised that he 
would marry the next couple “among their friends”. He went on to 
tell them that he would come down “even by cutter for one more 
wedding, but after that they would have to get a steamer.”  

By 1912, the Paddisons were running a Guest House at Karaka Bay. 
Many young people holidayed there. Farming around FitzRoy in 
particular did not make a good living and this summer business 
helped the family finances. 

 
When Edward and Annie’s eldest son, Joseph (Joe) married Alice 
Paultridge in 1900, the parents gave the newly-weds a piece of their 
land facing Port FitzRoy. By 1901, they had built FitzRoy House. This 
too was used for paying guests over the summer.  

Glenfern’–now remodelled and known as FitzRoy House. It is one of 
the oldest houses on the island. 

In addition, Alice was appointed teacher at Okiwi School in May 1912. Each day she took her 
three school-age children over the hill to school. The school was closed at the end of the year, 
possibly because the four-mile trek was too much for them all in the winter. Her children then 
returned to Great Barrier School, as did Roland Sanderson who had also been attending Okiwi 
School. Annie Cooper was enrolled later in 1913. The three Paddison children, Roly Sanderson 
& Annie Cooper all came by row boat from the Paddisons to the school, which for many years 
was held at Le Roys at Rarohara Bay in Port FitzRoy. It seems likely that these young relatives 
stayed (at least during the week) with their Paddison cousins. Alice Paddison taught at this 
school one week in every two, teaching the Maori children at Katherine Bay on alternate 
weeks. 

Following Joe’s death in 1933, and the marriage of his eldest daughter, Edna to Reginald 
Cooper in the following year, the newly weds moved into and managed the guest house. 

A description from the late 1930s… 

The owners were adamant that they didn’t want ‘riff raff’ arriving there, so there was no road 
access, and guests were taken from Port FitzRoy wharf across the harbour in the guesthouse 
launch. About 30 people stayed at Glenfern coming and going over the holiday period. It had 
a big dining room – sitting room with a piano, and usually someone played the piano and 
there was a sing-song each evening. After breakfast nearly everyone went out on the 
guesthouse launch for fishing, especially when there were two launches and plenty of space. 
There was no problem catching fish. After fishing in the morning, they would go ashore and 
boil up a four-gallon kerosene tin of salt water, and cook fish and potatoes in it, which they 
would eat with bread and butter on the beach. Then they would have an hour or so of more 
fishing before heading back on their slow boat. Then right up in the harbour they would lift 
the set crayfish pots, and re-bait them. There was fresh crayfish every day and for lunch too 
if that’s what people wanted. 



A great sight was the dolphins playing in the bay and draping themselves in seaweed. There 
were also lots of large whales. There were also sharks & many sea birds. One day was set 
aside for climbing Mt Hobson and another for visiting the gannets on Gannet Island.  

The Coopers and their boarding house ‘Glenfern’ had a loyal clientele for so long that some 
of their guests who started coming here as children came back with children of their own.  

The FitzRoy Post Office and the manual telephone exchange were set up in a lean-to addition 
to the house. When Mrs Cooper relinquished her keys to the Post Office and manual 
telephone exchange she had operated for forty years, the Department made the rare gesture 
of a retiring gift and a citation commemorating her devoted service. 

It’s easy to understand why the Paddisons have buried many family members in a small area 
set aside for this purpose but it’s not so obvious why others are buried on what is still private 
property. 

Paddison family buried at Karaka Bay 

Edward’s parents – Joseph and Ann Paddison of Lincolnshire. 

Annie’s parents – Joseph and Elizabeth Cooper came to NZ from Staffordshire. Their families 
were gypsies. 

Edward and his wife Annie Maria (nee Cooper) 

Who was Allen Taylor and why was he buried here? 

The Taylors have no direct connection with the families so far mentioned. But the father of 
Allen’s wife, Susan – Charles Ellis - came to NZ on ‘Matoaka’ with Edward Paddison, George 
Stark and the Edlington brothers. Immediately after his arrival in NZ, he moved up north to 
work. He then moved to Great Barrier where he worked in the copper mine for a couple of 
years before going to work in Auckland and then at Thames.  

Allen and Susan were living on Kaikoura Island at the mouth of Port FitzRoy. They were very 
good friends of William Moor and William Cooper, both about the same age as Allen. When 
their first child, Eleanor (Nellie) was born in 1891 there are stories of the celebration party 
being held in the Coopers woolshed with the piano being carried over by boat from the 
Taylors’ home at Kaikoura. 

By late 1892, Allen & Susan were planning to sell the 
island to try their luck with one of Allen’s brother in 
South Africa. A potential buyer was brought over from 
Auckland by another brother on the weekly steamer. 
Susan was due to go to Auckland on the next boat to 
await the birth of her second child, but the baby arrived 
early. The three men went in a small sailing boat to get 
assistance for her. Later, Allen’s brother returned to the 
house with the tragic news that the boat had capsized 
and the other two men had perished. Allen Taylor was buried at Karaka Bay on the land of his 
widow’s father’s friend. (See note 1.) 



Susan, Eleanor (Nellie) and Millicent, the new baby, left 
on the next steamer to travel to Thames to spend some 
time with her parents. A couple of months later, while 
still there, she received news that her house on Kaikoura 
Island had burnt down. It was not insured and diminished 
the value of the farm. However, the land was sold the 
following year. 

But this did not end her association with the island as she 
married William Moor (son of John and Susan Moor) In 
about 1899. While Susan was expecting their child, 
William was taken ill with appendicitis and died of 
peritonitis and buried next to his friend, Allen at Karaka 
Bay. Susan gave birth to another daughter, Minnie Moor. 

As there is no evidence of Minnie being enrolled at FitzRoy School, I assume that the family 
moved away from the island. 

And what about William Cooper? 

William Cooper was tragically killed in a bushcutting accident the year after the death of his 
friend Allen Taylor. His parents had left Great Barrier but he continued to live at Rarohara Bay. 
He was a cousin of Mrs Edward Paddison (nee Cooper). In the absence of his parents, the 
Paddison’s may have arranged for William to be buried alongside his friend. The Cooper 
property was sold to the Warrens in 1893, the year of William’s death. 

Why are the Moors buried there? 

John and Susan Moor lived at Mohunga from 1859 until about 1906. They brought up their 
seven children there.  In 1900, their elder son, William died when appendicitis turned to 
peritonitis. He was buried with his two close friends who had also died at a young age – Allen 
Taylor and William Cooper.  

After William’s death, John and Susan struggled to manage the farm . They were getting older 
and their daughters had all moved to Auckland. Although the Paddison boys helped them out, 
records show that their farm changed ownership in May 1906.They followed their daughters 
to Auckland where they lived until their deaths in 1911. Burial with their son on the island 
where they had spent so many years must have seemed the logical choice of resting place, so 
they too were buried in the tiny graveyard on the Karaka Bay property of their neighbours of 
47 years, the Paddisons. 

 
The Moor family in 1906 soon after moving 
from Great Barrier. 

Back row from left: Sue & Sarah 

Front row from left: Annie, John, Susan and 
Minnie 

 
  

  



Joyce Tuck 

Following the death of Roy 
Paddison in 1957, the family 
farm was sold to Mr Hyde. The 
800-acres were subsequently 
purchased from him by Neville 
and Dorothy Winger in 1963 to 
set up the Orama Christian 
Community. Joyce Tuck was a 
long-term resident of the 
community having come to help 
the Wingers in 1965. When she 
died in 1993, her ashes were 
buried at the Karaka Bay graveyard. 

 
The homestead as it looked when the Wingers purchased the property in the early 1960s. 

Name Date of 
Birth 

Date of 
Death Relationship Misc 

Edward Paddison 8/3/1838 21/11/1915   Arrived in NZ on 
'Matoaka' in 1859 

Annie Paddison  
(nee Cooper) 1846 1920 Edward's wife Daughter of Joseph 

& Elizabeth Cooper 

Joseph Edward 
Paddison 13/9/1871 31/12/1933 Son of Edward & Annie   

Alice Paddison   1947 Wife of Joseph   

Frank William 
Paddison 6/8/1883 28/11/1936 Son of Edward & Annie   

Harvey (Roy) 
Paddison 14/4/1889 17/7/1957 Son of Edward & Annie   

George Paddison 26/9/1875 1875 Son of Edward & Annie Died at 13 days old 

Herbert (Bert) 
Paddison 18/7/1924   Frank's son Ashes scattered 

William Cooper (jnr) 1860 1893 
Cousin of Mrs Edward 
Paddison (nee Cooper) 

A bushcutter who 
was killed when a 
tree landed on him. 



Gladys Priest 1896 1967 

Edward & Annie's 
grandaughter. Daughter 
of Elizabeth Le Roy (nee 
Paddison) 

Ashes scattered 

John Moor 1832 1911   
Arrived in NZ on 
'Whirlwind' in 1859 

Susan Moor 1825 1911 Wife of John Moor 

William Moor 1859 1900 Son of John & Susan 
Moor 

Married Allen 
Taylor's widow. 

Allen Ashlin Taylor 1860 4/12/1892   Drowned 

William Edlington     
Lived with the 
Paddison's in his  
old age. 

Emigrated with 
Edward Paddison in 
1859 on the 
'Matoaka'. 

Joyce Tuck 1905 1993 Long time resident of 
Orama Ashes buried 

 
Please make contact if you have information to add or comments to make. 
(kaystowell@thebarrier.co.nz)  

Note 1. The descendents of Allen Ashlin Taylor are the Russell Family of Auckland.  The 
contact is Jolyon Russell (positive@clear.net.nz  

Note 2. I read with interest the article about the Karaka Bay Graveyard. I am the secretary of 
the Tuakau and District Museum and have been researching the Moor family as we have a 
photo in our possession that shows buildings in Tuakau and one of them has Mrs Moor on 
the side of the verandah. Alexander Turnbull Library also have the photo. 

http://tapuhi.natlib.govt.nz/cgi-bin/spydus/NAV/GLOBAL/OPHDR/1/970955 .  

If you zoom in you can see the sign behind the men in the photo. Susan TAYLOR married 
William MOOR on 4 April 1900 at the Ephiphany Church, Auckland.  I have discovered via 
Electoral Rolls that Mrs Moor was a dressmaker. A farewell evening was held for her and her 
three daughters in May 1915 as they were leaving Tuakau for Pukekohe. Link to the article 
at;   http://paperspast.natlib.govt.nz/cgi-bin/imageserver/imageserver.pl?oid=PWT19150511.1.3&ext=png 

I wonder why she ended up at Tuakau? It seems a long way from Thames or Great Barrier.   
Sandra Brasell (k-sbrasell@xtra.co.nz) 


